
 Cherokee County Board of Commissioners 
 WORK SESSION MINUTES  

 

July 15, 2014 
3:00 p.m. | Cherokee Hall 

The Chairman began at 3:06 p.m. with all Commissioners present. Chairman 
Ahrens asked Mr. Bryan Reynolds to come up and give a summary of Saturday’s 
Georgia Recreation and Parks District 5 swim meet held at the Aquatic Center.  Mr. 
Reynolds stated there were about 300 swimmers and about 900 total spectators in 
attendance. He said he believes 71 from Cherokee County qualified for the State 
meet in Cumming.  Mr. Reynolds added that he received numerous compliments 
on the facility. The Chairman congratulated them on a great job. 
 
Note: Mr. Chris Hamilton sat in for Ms. Angie Davis.  
 
 

1. 2014 Proposed Millage Rate Review by Janelle Funk. 
 
Ms. Funk briefly presented slides to review the process of setting the millage rate. 
The presentation is included as part of these minutes. The Chairman clarified that 
this is not the budget setting but the millage rate setting which is part of the 
budget. Whatever is approved sets that value derived from property taxes but it 
isn’t necessarily the number that will be in the budget. He added that in regard to 
public safety salary increases that were discussed at the last meeting, he 
suggested looking at a multi-year period. He asked where we are at looking at 
alternatives going forward that might affect how we come out of the box. Ms. Funk 
stated that she and Mr. Cooper discussed having a long-term financial plan and 
they know that is something that needs to be developed. She added that the next 
available time for the Finance Department to work on something like that would be 
around October. Chairman Ahrens stated that the other dimension was that there 
are other departments to look at, too. 
 
Commissioner Gunnin asked if we use the $1M in reserves would it hurt the bond 
ratings. Ms. Funk stated that right now we have a cash flow of about $7M and the 
financial policies indicate that we should be keeping about $6M on hand as 
unobligated funds. We would be within policy if we did that. She added that we 
would have the impact of the next year and what would we do then if we use $1M 
this year in reserves and this is an on-going cost. Commissioner Gunnin asked if 
she thought the digest would grow enough this year to cover next year. Ms. Funk 



Work Session July 15, 2014                                                                                             Page 2 of 8 

 

replied that they estimated that if the digest grew about 2.5%; that equates to 
about $800K and wouldn’t cover anything else. 
 
Commissioner Johnston stated that it goes against his grain to use reserves for 
salary increases since it is a permanent increase in cost. His preference is to use 
reserves for one-time costs. He added that he would like to see them be able to do 
phase two based on real growth and without raising taxes again next year. 
Commissioner Nelms stated that if we have the $315K to use at the proposed rate 
of 5.890, that number is going to be equal to or less than a proposed inflation of 
real property digest moving forward. He believes we can justify the $22.91 
increase per household using the $315K in hand. 
 
Commissioner Gunnin expressed concern with employees leaving because it’s 
costing so much to train them. He referred to the overcrowding of the jail and that 
it creates tension among the inmates which creates dangerous situations for the 
jailers. He added that we have fewer deputies out on the street and it is a 
continuing problem as well as firefighters leaving. He stated we need to get the 
salaries up where we can retain these employees. He commented that they not 
only need to look at starting pay but pay for the medium range people. 
Commissioner Nelms commented that in the area of public safety it’s a two-part 
process, a recruitment component and a retaining component and it needs to be 
addressed, the sooner the better. He added that when it affects call time to 911, 
it’s a real issue. Chairman Ahrens stated that if we go back to the average impact 
of the tax increase, a homeowner’s insurance is likely to go down somewhere 
between $50 and $150. It is a mitigating factor as a result of the new ISO rating 
that the Fire Department has achieved. He added that he is somewhere in 
between. His opinion in the General Fund is closer to the 8% range and the Fire 
Fund closer to the 6% range and the potential of using some of the reserves. 
 
Commissioner Poole said he has spoken with Chief West and Ms. Funk about this 
since the last meeting. He thinks there are a lot of internal things to look at as a 
County. He referenced raises that were given to some but not others. 
Commissioner Poole suggested using the $1M in reserves they can use without 
having to tax homeowners another $6 or $7. He expressed appreciation to Chief 
West and Chief Prather in bringing him up to speed. He commented that they need 
to take care of the County employees and public safety is number one. 
Commissioner Johnston reminded everyone to not forget the rest of the County 
employees. He indicated that most taxpayers don’t mind paying a little more for 
public safety rather than for other employees they don’t see as much. The 
Chairman stated that he has received emails from employees who know the 
priorities but want to make sure they’re not forgotten. 
 



Work Session July 15, 2014                                                                                             Page 3 of 8 

 

Commissioner Poole mentioned that he had spoken to the State Senators for our 
District and said they were on board with helping the County amend the HOST tax 
and would be glad to meet with the Board any time. He stated he would like to see 
the HOST tax worded the right way then brought back to the voters and let that 
offset the property taxes. Chairman Ahrens commented that Cobb County is using 
this calendar year for communications using next session because they can have a 
big influence in getting the State code changed. Commissioner Johnston stated 
that as he understands it under the Constitution, there are two questions that 
require separate voter questions for a tax increase as well as an offset to property 
taxes. He added that one of his issues with the vote was that the wording 
indicated that the 20% could be used for something other than to offset the 
property taxes and although the Commissioners had committed to not do that, the 
voters may not have believed that. He added that it would be helpful if they could 
make it 100% like LOST. The other issue is the transition. They worked through a 
transition to where every dollar by the time they set a millage rate would be used 
to reduce the millage rate, but the law allows in the early years a more liberal 
transition so the County can avoid using early revenues for rollback. The Chairman 
added that the other thing is providing a way, within the sales and use code, to 
have counties shift from a LOST to a HOST.  
 
 
 

2. Discussion of Regular Agenda Items. 
 
 
 
PUBLIC HEARING 
 
1. Consider modification to conditions of Rezone Case #11-09-011 Race 

Trac Petroleum, Inc. 
 
The public is invited to hear the request by Dinton Investments to remove 
conditions #3 and #4 from the resolution to allow a master detention area for the 
entire parcel and to allow GDOT to determine access requirement on July 15, 2014 
at 6:00 p.m. at the Cherokee County Administrative Complex, Cherokee Hall, 
1130 Bluffs Parkway, Canton, GA 30114. 
 
Ms. Vicki Lee recalled that back in 2011 the corner parcel at Scott Road and 
Highway 20 was rezoned to General Commercial. She said there were several 
conditions placed on it. One was that stormwater had to be taken care of on-site 
and there would be no access to SR 20. The rest of the property has been rezoned 
to commercial and the applicant is asking for the condition for stormwater to be 



Work Session July 15, 2014                                                                                             Page 4 of 8 

 

removed so they can do a massive retention and let GDOT determine if they can 
have access to SR 20. 
 
2. Consider request to abandon construction maintenance easements 

along Rope Mill Road. 
 
The public is invited to hear the request regarding the abandonment of portions of 
permanent construction maintenance easements on Rope Mill Road located in Land 
Lots 853, 874, 875, and 876 of the 15th District, 2nd Section of Cherokee County 
on July 15, 2014 at 6:00 p.m. at the Cherokee County Administrative Complex, 
Cherokee Hall, 1130 Bluffs Parkway, Canton, GA 30114. 
 
Mr. Geoff Morton indicated the easements are near the Atlanta Outlets. When the 
road was built, the construction/maintenance easements were required as 
permanent. This clears up their site plans and titles. 
 
3. 2014 Proposed Millage Rate Review by Janelle Funk. 
 
All concerned citizens are invited to the public hearings on this tax increase to be 
held at the Cherokee County Administrative Complex, Cherokee Hall, 1130 Bluffs 
Parkway, Canton, GA 30114 July 15, 2014 at 6:00 p.m.; and July 24, 2014 at 
11:00a.m. and 6:00p.m. 
 
 
 
ZONING CASES 
 
Mr. Jeff Watkins stated that two cases are close together and fill in the commercial 
zonings on SR 20. He mentioned the first one is for a car lot for Bill Holt Chevrolet 
to use for used car sales. He said all of the cases are cut and dry. Commissioner 
Johnston stated they are all in his District and he had no issues with any of them. 
He commented the one at Key Drive was a little complicated. The concept is that 
someday, if the development is successful, Key Drive will be extended and connect 
to the new hospital parkway and create a new transportation artery between 
Highways 140 and 20. 
 
 
1. CASE NUMBER        :14-07-014  
APPLICANT         :Terry Dickerson  
ZONING CHANGE        :LI to GC  
LOCATION         :12159 Cumming Highway  
MAP & PARCEL NUMBER       :03N23, part of 149A and part of 196  
ACRES          :1.12  



Work Session July 15, 2014                                                                                             Page 5 of 8 

 

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT       :Car Lot  
COMMISSION DISTRICT       :1  
FUTURE DEVELOPMENT MAP      :Community Village 
 

As a result of the public hearing held on July 1, 2014, the Cherokee County 
Planning Commission voted to recommend APPROVAL of zoning case 14-07-014 
Terry Dickinson to rezone from LI (Light Industrial) to GC (General Commercial) 
on 1.12 acres for a used car lot. 
 
 
2. CASE NUMBER        :14-07-015  
APPLICANT         :ABF Horizon, LLC  
ZONING CHANGE        :R-40 to GC  
LOCATION         :2618 and 2620 Cumming Highway  
MAP & PARCEL NUMBER       :14N23C, 028 and 028D  
ACRES          :1.67  
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT       :Retail  
COMMISSION DISTRICT       :1  
FUTURE DEVELOPMENT MAP      :Neighborhood Village 
 

As a result of the public hearing held on July 1, 2014, the Cherokee County 
Planning Commission voted to recommend APPROVAL of zoning case 14-07-015 
ABF Horizon, LLC to rezone from R-40 (Residential) to GC (General Commercial) 
on 1.67 acres for a retail development. 
 
3. CASE NUMBER        :14-07-016  
APPLICANT         :ABF Horizon, LLC and Benjamin Key  
ZONING CHANGE        :R-40 to GC  
LOCATION         :211 and 215 Key Drive  
MAP & PARCEL NUMBER       :14N23C, 029A and 029D  
ACRES          :2.56  
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT       :Retail/Office  
COMMISSION DISTRICT       :1  
FUTURE DEVELOPMENT MAP      :Neighborhood Village 
 
As a result of the public hearing held on July 1, 2014, the Cherokee County 
Planning Commission voted to recommend APPROVAL of zoning case 14-07-016 
ABF Horizon, LLC and Benjamin Key to rezone from R-40 (Residential) to GC 
(General Commercial) on 2.56 acres for a retail/office development. 
 
 
 
COMMISSION BUSINESS 
 
CHAIRMAN         L.B. AHRENS 
 

A. Presentation of State Certification to the Cherokee County Marshal’s Office. 



Work Session July 15, 2014                                                                                             Page 6 of 8 

 

Mr. Cooper provided a brief overview of the certification. He said the State 
assessment team evaluated 129 criteria. He mentioned this is the second 
recertification. He thanked the Marshal’s Office team, particularly Jo-Ann Faverey, 
who headed up the program and who retains a level of professionalism that is 
important to the citizens in the County. Mr. Cooper stated that the next step, as he 
has challenged them, is to become nationally accredited. Chief Roach, serving as 
interim Chief Marshal, stated that it is easy to become certified but is hard to stay 
there. He commented that out of the 13 Marshal’s Offices in the State only two are 
certified and we are one of them. He thanked Jo-Ann and the officers for their hard 
work. He added that out of the 129 criteria, they were out of compliance with one 
and it has since been corrected. These standards help build up their policies and 
help maintain a high level of professionalism. Chief Roach believes they will have 
no problem becoming nationally certified. He also thanked Animal Control. 
Chairman Ahrens asked how long it would take to go through a national 
certification process. Chief Roach replied that he didn’t know off the top of his 
head but that they have work to do but with the State recertification, he doesn’t 
think it will take very long. 
 
  
 
Mr. Cooper went over two items under the Consent Agenda portion: 
 
1.1 Requesting to set a Public Hearing date for August 5, 2014 for considering 

amendments to Cherokee County Zoning Ordinance, Article 23 Conservation 
Design Communities. 
 
Mr. Cooper prefaced by referring to the packets sent to the Commissioners 
by Mr. Jeff Watkins and explained that a majority of the changes refers to 
Exhibit A with the front yard setback. It varies based on the size of the lot 
but Mr. Watkins wants a standard of 35 feet.  Commissioner Nelms stated 
that he thought the Conservation Design seems to becoming more popular 
and asked Mr. Watkins if he thought the Conservation Design would occur 
more often as the economic landscape shifts to the right. Mr. Watkins replied 
yes. He stated it is a good way to get conserved land as well as 
accommodate some reasonable amount of development on that particular 
property. He added that it helps with water quality. Commissioner Nelms 
asked if he thought we were prepared for that now. Mr. Watkins stated that 
we have had quite a few projects since things have come online. He 
commented that most people are dealing with the zoning that’s there and 
one way to manage it is by using the conservation tool. He stated that what 
they will present on August 5th is a few tweaks to the ordinance. Mr. Watkins 
listed the requested changes. Commissioner Johnston commented that he 



Work Session July 15, 2014                                                                                             Page 7 of 8 

 

has been an occasional critic and has gone through all the recommended 
changes and doesn’t see any negatives. He feels they do not make it any 
less desirable from the perspective of people who are fighting for quality 
growth.  
 

1.2 Consider approving budget amendment for the SPLOST Fund in the amount 
of $12,488.32 so security enhancements can be completed in the DA’s Office 
in the Courthouse. 

 
  
Mr. Cooper went over the seven items under the County Manager portion: 
 
 
2.1 Consider awarding the standard Construction Services Agreement (CSA) to 

Hawkins Construction in the amount of $83,000.00 for the construction of a 
storage building for the Sheriff’s Office. 

 
2.2 Consider approval of proposal from Wilburn Engineering, LLC, for 

construction and installation of traffic signal at the intersection of SR 92 and 
Cherokee 75 Parkway in the amount of $139,000.00. 
 

2.3 Consider approval of a proposal from Moreland Altobelli Associates, Inc. to 
perform design services for various culvert repair projects under their annual 
engineering consulting service contract in the amount of $19,120.00. 

 
2.4 Consider approval of Supplemental Agreement No. 1 from Vertical Earth, 

Inc., for additional storm drainage installation on the Steels Bridge Road 
Reconstruction Project in the amount of $29,132.77. 

 
2.5 Consider approval of amendment to Professional Services Agreement with 

American Engineers, Inc., for completing the plan revisions in accordance 
with revised traffic study for East Cherokee Drive and Old Hwy. 5 and East 
Cherokee Drive and Mill Creek Road intersection improvement projects in the 
amount of $168,500.00. 

 
2.6 Consider request to transfer FY 2012 Section 5307 FTA Formula Funds to 

Cobb County Transit in the amount of $1,358,590.00. 
 
2.7 Consider approving the issuance of the final $22.8M of General Obligation 

Park & Greenspace Bonds to the most competitive bidder. 
 



Work Session July 15, 2014                                                                                             Page 8 of 8 

 

Mr. Cooper stated that Wells Fargo provided the best proposal at a non-
callable interest rate 2.78% callable after 10 years of 2.84%. He mentioned 
that Mr. Bryce Holcomb was available to answer questions. Commissioner 
Nelms commented that the interest rates from Wells Fargo were impressive. 
Commissioner Johnston stated that he didn’t see a lot of value in a call.  Mr. 
Holcomb responded saying they recommend using the call. He said anytime 
he sold a bond that was beyond 10 years that didn’t have a call on it, he has 
regretted it. If the County got a similar rate environment 10 years from now, 
they can refund those bonds and save the remaining interest. He believes it 
to be worth having. Mr. Holcomb added that if something were to happen 
and they needed a call option, because the bonds were used for a taxable 
reason that would then make the bonds no longer tax exempt, then this 
would allow the County to redeem the bonds early at a lower cost they 
would otherwise have to pay. However, it is the Board’s decision. After 
hearing the additional comments from Mr. Holcomb, Commissioner Johnston 
said he agreed that the callable option was probably a good idea. Mr. Roger 
Murray referred to the resolution drafted by him and the County Attorneys. 
He stated that if the Board decides to change the call option, they would just 
need to make note of it in a motion and he will fix the papers. 
 

Adjourn 

Hearing no further items, Commissioner Johnston made a motion to adjourn to 
Executive Session at 4:31 p.m. to discussion individual personnel matters, 
pending and threatened litigation, and acquisition and disposition of property. 
Commissioner Nelms seconded and the motion was unanimously approved.  


